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Derwgoed 

Location and aspect 

Derwgoed Farmhouse and Barn are located to the North of the Eglwyseg 
River, roughly equidistant between the villages of Eglwyseg and 
Pentredwr. The site is located on a steep hill in front of a track of managed 
forestry land. 

Aerial view of Derwgoed Farmhouse and Barn in 2022. 

OS map showing location of “Dergoed”. 
OS © Crown copyright 1986. 
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The property is marked, but 
not named, on the 1795 
map of North Wales by 
John Evans. A tithe map 
from 1839 also clearly 
shows the two buildings, the 
barn and farmhouse, on the 
site as well as the original 
stone boundary wall at the 
front of both buildings. 

Architectural significance 

An architectural survey from 2016 describes the site as a “…group of 
buildings compris[ing] two main buildings, a seventeenth century much 
altered house and an imposing range of 19th century agricultural 
buildings.” The barn is constructed of limestone and consisted originally of 
a combined hay barn, cart shed, stables, byres and pig sties. The survey 
notes that the barn “…is a detached 19th century building of impressive 
scale that demonstrates a significant investment made to improve farm 
facilities at that time.” 

John Evans’ map of North 
Wales, drawn in 1795. 

Derwgoed is highlighted in red. 

The tithe map from 1839 showing “Dirgoed” as No. 243. It was owned 
by Sir Watkin Williams Wynn and occupied by Moses Williams.  

The area was 32A 2R 11P, for which the annual tithe was £7 10s. 
Courtesy The National Library of Wales. 
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By contrast, the earlier 
farmhouse is constructed of 
sandstone and, apart from a 
modern kitchen extension, 
has retained its original 
layout and internal structures. 
A 2004 report from the Royal 
Commission on the Ancient 
and Historical Monuments of 
Wales (RCAHMW)  from 
describes the farmhouse as 
“…a storeyed end-chimney 
house with the entry close to 
the fireplace. It has stone 
walls, with a box-framed 
central partition. The gable 
has a date inscription of 1601 
[now obscured by post-2004 
render]”, giving a possible 
date of the building at the 
start of the 17th century. 
Even more tantalising is that 
one of the builders engaged 
in recent improvement work 

said that he came across a date carved in one of the beams from the 
1500s, although sadly we still have to discover which beam bears that 
even earlier date. 

 

Historical occupation 

According to historical rental records, the site was under the 
management of the Wynnstay Estate as early as 1626. Unfortunately, 
the property during this period is not directly named and is likely referred 
to simply as “a property in Eglwyseg”. Although there are no direct links 
in the form of birth, marriage, or death certificates to the names of the 
people who likely occupied Derwgoed from this period, the location, size 
and corresponding rental amount for the property make a strong case 
that the following families occupied Derwgoed in the 17

th
 and 18

th
 

centuries.  The names listed below are the heads of household cited in 
the rental records: 

1626, 1633 and 1650 – Robert Lewis 

1671, 1719, 1720 and 1726 – Evan ap Robert 

1736 – Moses Evan Roberts 

1744, 1746 and 1748 – Moses Evans 

The original wattle and daub wall in 
the Farmhouse. 
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Further support for this occupation scenario comes from the progression 
of family names in the traditional Welsh fashion – Evan ap (son of) 
Robert Lewis becomes Evan Roberts, then Moses ap Evan Roberts 
becomes Moses Evans. 

The 1626 rentals record for the Wynnstay Estate. 
Courtesy The National Library of Wales 
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We do have several marriage and death records from this period which 
name “Moses Evans”, probably from several generations of the same 
family. However, the records link the names to Llangollen or Eglwyseg 
and do not name Derwgoed directly: 

14 June 1736 – MosesEvans of Llangollen parish is married to Mary 
Jones of Llantysilio parish at Llantysilio Church. 

26 August 1773 – Moses Evans of Eglwys Eagle was buried at 
Llangollen. 

1 April 1801 – Moses Evans of Eglwys Eagle was buried at Llantysilio. 

22 May 1801 – Moses Evans and Elizabeth Jones both of Llantysilio 
parish married at St Collen’s church. 

It seems likely that the first pair 
of dates show the marriage and 
then the death of Moses Evans 
at Derwgoed, as by 1778 
Edward Williams had taken 
over the rental of Derwgoed 
from the Wynnstay Estate, 
paying 8 shillings per year for 
the rental. Edward rented 
Dergoed for at least the next 
twenty years, but in 1790 he 
also took over the rental of Nant 
Ty Du, the small cottage on the 
stream in the valley below 
Derwgoed, from John Jones. 
By 1798 Edward was paying 
land tax for the two properties 
together, a total of 13s. 

Here we have to make a small leap of faith. We know from baptism 
records that, in 1821, Moses Williams was living at Derwgoed with his 
wife Elizabeth. Moses had married Elizabeth Edwards in 1814 at St 
Collen’s Church. We also 
know from later census 
records that Moses was 
born around 1780, as 
indeed was Elizabeth. 
Although we have not been 
able to locate a birth record, 
it seems very likely that 
Moses could have been 
Edward Williams’ son. 

The 1790 land tax record shows 
Edward Williams paying for both 

Derwgoed (8s) and Nant Ty Dy (5s). 

Moses and Elizabeth’s marriage in 1814. 
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The birth of three 
daughters soon followed – 
Ann in 1817, Sarah in 
1819 and Mary in 1821. 
On Sarah and Mary’s 
baptism records Moses 
and Elizabeth were noted 
as living at Dergoed, and 
Elizabeth’s maiden name 
was shown to have been 
Edwards. All three 
daughters were baptised 
at the new Glanyrafon 
Congregational Chapel in 
Llangollen. 

The tithe map of Eglwyseg in 
1839 very clearly showed the 
house and barn of ‘Dirgoed’ 
and recorded that the 32 acre 
farm belonged to Sir Watkin 
Williams Wynn and was rented 
by Moses Williams. Two years 
later the 1841 census showed 
the sixty year old Moses 
farming there with Elizabeth. 

Also living at the farm were their daughter Sarah, 
grandson John Hughes and two servants. Moses 
and Elizabeth were still at Derwgoed in 1851, as 
was their grandson, but by 1871 the lease of 
Derwgoed had been taken on by Edward Davies. 
Fifty one year old Edward was farming the 32 
acres with his wife Ann, helped by three servants. 

Edward and Ann would continue to farm at 
Dergoed into their 80s. When Edward passed 
away in 1909 the lease of Derwgoed was passed 
to their son Lemuel. Lemuel had been farming at 
Pen y Bryn, above the Britannia Inn. Having been 
widowed he was living there with his two 
daughters Elizabeth and Annie in 1891. However, 
in 1892 he had married again, to Mary Jane Parry 
from the nearby Garth y Pistyll, and the couple 
had moved to Tan y Fron Farm by 1901. 

The baptisms of Ann, Sarah and Mary 
Williams of Dergoed. 

The 1839 tithe map showing Dergoed. 

 Edward Davies’ grave in Llantysilio Churchyard. 
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Following his father’s death Lemuel and Mary relocated across the valley 
to farm at Derwgoed, and the 1911 census listed the occupants there 
as:- Lemuel Lloyd Davies (57, farmer), Mary Jane Davies (51, wife), 
Edith Maude Davies (17, daughter, dairy work).  

February 1915 was a happy 
occasion of the marriage of 
Edith Maude to Francis 
Roberts, son of Amos and 
Fanny Roberts, who were at 
that time living at Bwlch Mawr. 

Three years later saw a sadder 
occasion, with the death of 
Lemuel, aged just 64 years old. 
With the passing of Lemuel, 
Mary became the head of the 
household at Derwgoed, 
although the farming was now 
done by her son in law Francis.  

Mary would live for another twenty five years, but did not stay at 
Dergoed. Before the Second World War Derwgoed was rented from by 
Bert and Sarah Williams (no relation), who lived and farmed there until 
1963. After the Second World War many properties were sold off by the 
large estates. The Wynnstay Estate was no exception and Derwgoed 
was one of the farms that were sold. It was bought by Barnett Wynn 
Williams, who was farming at Penyclawdd Farm at the time, although 
Bert and Sarah continued as tenants. Derwgoed would stay in the 
Williams family for the next seventy years. 

Bert and Sarah Williams were followed by Mr Day and his family. He 
managed the Fortes Café in Llangollen, located where the SPAR 
convenience store now is (2023) on Castle Street. Following Barnett’s 
death in 1951, his daughter Eluned and her husband Eddie Evans 
managed the renting of Derwgoed. Janet and Gareth Phillips followed 
the Days as tenants, along with their three children Alan, Michael and 
Bethan, who went to school in Pentredŵr. 

The next tenants were Jo and Edie Mills. They had previously lived at 
Oernant Isaf, but then spent some years living in Glyndyfrdwy before 
returning to Pentredŵr to live in Derwgoed. Their tenancy at Derwgoed 
was succeeded by their son Ian and his wife, but they were the last 
tenants at Derwgoed as when they left it was lived in and farmed by 
descendents of Barnett Williams and their extended family. 

In 2015 Derwgoed was sold to the present owners, who transformed 
both the house and the barn into stunning family accommodation. 

By Heidi Kurtz. 

The marriage of Edith Maude and 
Francis Roberts in 1915. 


